

Implications of the RET for the Australian economy

A report for APPEA

35 Endeavour Street Red Hill, ACT 2603 Phone: +61 437 394 309 Fax: +61 2 6239 5864 www.baeconomics.com.au

Client name: APPEA Date: September 2012

Disclaimer

BAEconomics and its authors make no representation or warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of the material contained in this document and shall have, and accept, no liability for any statements, opinions, information or matters (expressed or implied) arising out of, contained in or derived from this document or any omissions from this document, or any other written or oral communication transmitted or made available to any other party in relation to the subject matter of this document.

Table of contents

Ex	ecuti	ve summary	. 1
1.	Intr	oduction	. 2
	1.1.	Policy context	2
	1.2.	Scope of this study	2
	1.3.	Structure of this report	2
2.	Ana	alytical and modelling framework	. 3
	2.1.	BAEGEM model description	3
	2.2.	Reference case and policy scenarios	5
	2.3.	Key modelling assumptions	6
3.	Res	ults	. 8
	3.1.	Policy implications for carbon prices	8
	3.2.	Policy implications for real GDP	9
	3.3.	Policy implications for real wages	11
	3.4.	Policy implications for greenhouse gas emissions	12
	3.5.	Policy implications for the electricity sector	13
4.	Pol	icy conclusions	19

Figures

Figure 3-1. Evolution of the domestic carbon price (A\$/t-CO ₂ -e)9
Figure 3-2. Real Australian GDP, deviation from the reference case10
Figure 3-3. Real Australian GDP, average annual growth rates11
Figure 3-4. Real wages, deviation from the reference case12
Figure 3-5. Total Australian emissions (excluding LULUCF)13
Figure 3-6. Aggregate electricity generation in Australia (GWh)14
Figure 3-7. Electricity price deviations relative to the reference case15
Figure 3-8. Electricity generation from renewable energy sources (excluding hydro) 16
Figure 3-9. Electricity generation from natural gas17
Figure 3-10. Electricity generation mix in 2020
Figure 3-11. Electricity generation mix in 2030

Tables

Table 2-1. Regions, sectors and technology
Table 2-2. Key macroeconomic assumptions
Table 2-3. Electricity generation and share of electricity generated by technology (2010)
Table 4-1. Comparison of economic effects under alternative climate change policies (2020, percentage differences from the reference case)

Executive summary

This paper examines the implications for the Australian economy of the renewable energy target (RET). The RET requires 45 000 GWh of electricity generation to be sourced from renewable energy resources by 2020. Under current policy settings, the RET operates in parallel with the Carbon Pricing Mechanism, an emissions trading scheme (ETS).

The economic implications of four policy options have been assessed relative to a reference case in which no climate change policies are adopted:

- a domestic ETS policy scenario versus a domestic combined ETS + RET policy scenario; and
- an ETS policy scenario versus a combined ETS + RET policy scenario, in which the Australian ETS is linked to the European Union ETS (ETS_EU).

The analysis shows that the combination of the ETS with the RET is significantly **less** efficient than an unadulterated ETS in achieving a given level of emissions abatement.

The modelling shows that to reach the emission target of five per cent below 2000 levels in 2020, the combined ETS + RET policy:

- costs Australia \$3.5 billion in today's dollars more than the ETS in output (GDP) losses in 2020; and
- causes substantial switching away from gas fired generation compared with an ETS, by 3 824 GWh in 2020.

A mandated renewable energy target such as the RET is less efficient at achieving a given environmental outcome because it forces higher cost renewable energy into the electricity generation mix at the expense of exploiting lower cost emissions abatement opportunities from gas generation and elsewhere in the economy.

Similar effects arise when the Australian ETS is linked with the European ETS. A combined ETS_EU + RET policy:

- reduces Australian GDP by \$6.5 billion in today's dollars more than the unadulterated ETS_EU in 2020; and
- reduces gas fired generation compared with the ETS_EU by 2 313 GWh in 2020.

However, linking the Australian ETS with the EU ETS also implies that the Government's 2020 domestic emissions reductions target will be partly met by additional abatement in Europe. In these circumstances, Australia will be a net permit buyer before 2020 and the domestic carbon price will instead be set by the price of EU emissions allowances. Lower prices for EU allowances then translate into lower domestic carbon prices, and lower levels of domestic abatement and a transfer of income from Australia to the European Union.

1. Introduction

1.1. Policy context

The RET has its origins in the 2001 Mandatory Renewable Energy Target (MRET), which required that 9 500 GWh of electricity be generated from renewable energy sources from 2010 to 2020. The scheme obliges electricity retailers to purchase electricity from renewable energy sources. Retailers are required to surrender Renewable Energy Certificates (RECs), corresponding to one MWh of eligible renewable energy, purchased from accredited renewable energy generators, or alternatively pay a penalty. The costs of sourcing RECs are recovered from customers.

In June 2009, the then Rudd government legislated to raise the target to 45 000 GWh by 2020 (extending to 2030), corresponding to what was then estimated to be a 20 per cent share of renewables. In January 2011, the RET was split into a 'Large-scale Renewable Energy Target' (LRET) with a target of 41 000 GWh by 2020, and a 'Small-scale Renewable Energy Scheme' (SRES) with an implicit target of 4 000 GWh. The LRET created a financial incentive for large-scale renewable power stations such as wind and commercial solar, while the SRES encouraged retailers to support small scale technologies such as solar photovoltaic (PV) panels and solar hot water heaters. All aspects of the RET, including the LRET, the SRES, the associated liability and eligibility provisions and the impact of the RET on the electricity market are currently the subject of a review by the Climate Change Authority.

1.2. Scope of this study

The Australian Petroleum Production and Exploration Association (APPEA) has commissioned BAEconomics to undertake a quantitative assessment of the implications for the Australian economy of the RET, and to compare alternative policy options for reducing Australian emissions:

- through the combination of the Carbon Pricing Mechanism, an emissions trading scheme (ETS), and the RET; or
- by relying solely on an ETS.

These policy options are examined for their impacts on gross domestic product (GDP), real wages, electricity prices, Australian emissions and implications for electricity generation.

1.3. Structure of this report

This report is structured as follows:

- Section 2 describes the analytical and modelling framework used;
- Section 3 describes the modelling results; and
- Section 4 sets out the policy conclusions.

2. Analytical and modelling framework

The following describes BAEconomics' general equilibrium model BAEGEM, the reference case and policy scenarios that have been modelled and key model assumptions.

2.1. BAEGEM model description

The modelling simulations undertaken for this project were performed using BAEconomics' general equilibrium model, BAEGEM. General equilibrium models are a tool for determining the direct and indirect macroeconomic impacts of government policies by projecting changes in macroeconomic aggregates such as GDP, real wages, investment and private consumption in response to changed policy settings.

2.1.1. Structure of BAEGEM

BAEGEM is a general equilibrium model of the world economy. The core model code of BAEGEM is based on the concepts of the Global Trade Analysis Project (GTAP) model, which relies on a global social accounting matrix to establish linkages between industries and countries. The model incorporates four interlinked modules: a government module, a GHG emission module, a technology mix module, and an energy module. For each year, BAEGEM simulates the interactions and feedbacks across these modules.

The technology mix module has been constructed specifically for the electricity and transport sectors. In the technology mix module, electricity is generated from a combination of twelve technologies: brown coal, black coal, gas, oil, hydro power, nuclear, wind, solar, biomass, waste, geothermal and other renewables. Under this setting, electricity generators are allowed to choose their mix of technologies in response to changes in relative capital and operating costs in the model. This modelling feature is of central importance for evaluating climate change policies as operating costs of non-zero emission technologies will change after a carbon pricing mechanism is put in place. Capital and operating costs for each technology are fully represented in BAEGEM.

2.1.2. Data

The BAEGEM database is based on a number of sources. The global social accounting matrix (SAM) is based on the GTAP v8 database with a base year of 2007. The GTAP v8 database covers 129 countries/regions across the world and 57 commodity groups. To better represent the energy and mining sectors, the commodity groups in BAEGEM have been expanded to 70.

The emissions database is sourced from International Energy Agency (IEA), the United National Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), and covers around 99 per cent of the global greenhouse gas emissions in 2007. The data in the technology mix and energy modules are sourced from IEA and the World Bank.

For the purpose of the modelling undertaken in this report, the BAEGEM database was aggregated into 14 regional/national economies and 23 production sectors as not all regions and sectors are relevant to this simulation exercise. Electricity technologies were also aggregated to increase the modelling efficiency (Table 2-1).

Table 2-1. Regions, sectors and technology

Regional / national economies	Production sectors	Electricity technologies	
Australia	Crops	Brown Coal	
EU27	Livestock	Black Coal	
United States	Forestry	Oil	
Canada	Fishing	Gas	
Russia	Black coal	Nuclear	
Rest of Europe	Brown coal	Hydro Power	
China	Metallurgical coal	Wind	
India	Oil	Solar	
Indonesia	Gas	Other Renewables	
Japan, Korea and Taiwan	Coke		
Rest of Asia	Nuclear Fuel		
Central and South America	Petroleum products		
Middle East and North Africa	Iron Ore		
Sub-Saharan Africa	Other minerals		
	Food		
	Chemicals, rubber and plastics		
	Non-metallic minerals		
	Manufacturing		
	Iron and Steel		
	Non-ferrous metal		
	Electricity		
Heat			
Services			
Road transport			
	Water and air transport		

Source: BAEGEM

An important feature of the simulation exercise is the specification of the carbon content in all economic activities and of the economic environment in which the strategic developments are assumed to take place. In the simulations it is assumed that consumers choose their bundle of consumption goods based on utility maximisation. Likewise, producers choose their mix of inputs and technologies based on cost minimisation. Under a carbon mitigation policy, consumers and producers will gradually move away from carbon-intensive goods and carbon-intensive technologies to less carbon intensive products and lower or zero emission technologies.

2.2. Reference case and policy scenarios

BAEGEM is a recursively dynamic model that solves year-on-year over a specified timeframe. The model is then used to project the relationship between variables under different scenarios over a predefined period. A typical modelling analysis is comprised of a reference case projection that forms the basis of the analysis. Set against this reference case are the one or more policy scenarios under consideration. The impacts of the policy change (the achievement of the strategic targets) are measured by differences between the reference case and policy scenarios at given points in time.

For the purpose of the modelling analysis in this paper, the reference case assumes that there is no emissions reductions target, and that there is no ETS and no RET. The reference case thus represents a benchmark against which the outcomes under the policy scenarios can be quantified and assessed.

In addition to the reference case, four policy scenarios have been modelled in this report, reflecting various government policy announcements:

- The Australian Government has made an unconditional commitment that Australia will reduce its emissions by 5 per cent compared with 2000 levels by 2020. Accordingly, two policy options for achieving this emissions reductions target have been modelled:
 - ETS + RET scenario. In this scenario, the RET operates in parallel to an ETS, with the ETS operating from 2012-13 onwards.
 - ETS scenario. In this scenario, emissions reductions are solely achieved through the application of a carbon price (i.e. the RET is abolished).

The above policy scenarios have been designed to achieve an emissions reduction target of 5 per cent below 2000 levels by 2020, and 15 per cent below 2000 levels by 2030. This corresponds to total Australian emissions of around 470 Mt by 2020 and around 420 Mt by 2030, excluding emissions from Land Use, Land Use change and Forestry (LULUCF). In these scenarios, it is assumed that a limited number of domestic emissions permits are issued, corresponding to the Government's emissions reductions target. The domestic carbon price therefore adjusts to balance domestic supply and demand. International trading of emissions permits is not permitted under these scenarios.

 On August 28, the Minister for Climate Change and Energy Efficiency announced that the Australian ETS would be linked with the European Union Emissions Trading System (EU ETS), so that Australian liable entities would have access to EU allowances. The following additional policy options have therefore been modelled:

- ETS_EU + RET scenario. In this scenario, the RET operates in parallel to a domestic (Australian) ETS that is linked with the EU ETS from 2015 onwards.
- ETS_EU scenario. In this scenario, emissions reductions are solely achieved through the operation of the Australian ETS, which is linked with the EU ETS.

In the above EU linkage scenarios, the price of Australian domestic emissions permits is determined by the supply and demand of emission permits in the two markets.

All scenarios, that is, the reference case and the four policy scenarios are modelled over the period from 2007 to 2030.

2.3. Key modelling assumptions

2.3.1. Renewable energy target

The two RET scenarios modelled (i.e. ETS + RET and ETS_EU + RET) assume that the overall renewable energy target of 45,000 GWh will be met by 2020. The future GWh contribution of the SRES to the RET target is uncertain, since it depends on the number of small-scale renewable installations taken up by household in response to state and Commonwealth policies. It is clear, however, that, in aggregate, the Government expects the combined LRET and SRES to achieve the overall RET target.¹

2.3.2. Macroeconomic assumptions

Key macroeconomic assumptions for the reference case are shown in Table 2-2. GDP growth in policy scenarios is determined in the course of the general equilibrium modelling.

¹ As set out in the Government's 2010 discussion paper (p. 7): 'The LRET's 41,000 GWh target for 2020 has been set to achieve a level of large-scale renewable electricity generation above what was expected under the existing Renewable Energy Target. The LRET portion of the target will be increased to ensure the 45,000 GWh target is still met in 2020 if the uptake of small scale technologies is lower than anticipated, but the annual LRET targets will not be reduced if uptake of small-scale technologies is greater than anticipated.' Australian Government 2010. Enhancing the Renewable Energy Target – Discussion Paper, March.

Table 2-2. Key macroeconomic assumptions

	Average annual growth	Average annual growth				
	2011 to 2020 (per cent)	2021 to 2030 (per cent)				
Australia						
Gross domestic product (GDP)	2.6	2.4				
Population	1.3	1.0				
Rest of the world (GDP)						
China	7.5	5.1				
India	7.6	6.5				
Japan, Korean and Taiwan	2.0	1.6				
EU-27	1.6	1.7				

Source: IMF, UN and BAEconomics' estimates.

2.3.3. Technologies

It is assumed that no new large-scale hydropower project will be built by 2030. Electricity generation from hydropower is counted towards the RET baseline. Further, it is assumed that carbon capture and storage technology is not commercially viable before 2030, and that the average lead time from planning to completion of a commercial renewable project is four years.

2.3.4. Electricity generation

Table 2-3 presents the Australian electricity generation mix in 2010.

Generation technology	Energy generated (GWh)	Share of energy generated (per cent)
Black Coal	123 463	51.5
Brown coal	55 611	23.2
Oil fired	3 284	1.4
Natural gas	35 927	15.0
Nuclear	0	0
Hydropower	12 367	5.2
Wind	4 759	2.0
Solar	275	0.1
Other renewable	274	1.6
Total	549	100.0

Table 2-3. Electricity generation and share of electricity generated by technology (2010)

Source: IEA

3. Results

The results of the modelling analysis are presented in the following. We consider, in turn, the implications of the four policy options for:

- the carbon price;
- growth in real GDP;
- growth in real wages;
- Australian greenhouse gas emissions; and
- the Australian electricity sector, including for aggregate electricity generation, electricity prices, and for generation from different technologies including gas and renewables.

3.1. Policy implications for carbon prices

Figure 3-1 shows the evolution of carbon prices under the four policy scenarios considered in this analysis:

- Under the ETS and the ETS + RET scenarios, the domestic carbon price is projected to increase considerably to meet the Government's emissions reductions objective. In the ETS scenario, the carbon price rises to around A\$ 37/t-CO₂-e in 2020 and to A\$ 56/t-CO₂-e in 2030. In the combined ETS + RET scenario, the carbon price increases to A\$ 28/t-CO₂-e in 2020 and to A\$ 48/t-CO₂-e in 2030.
- The domestic carbon price is projected to be considerably lower in the EU linkage scenarios, given that it will be largely determined by the price of EU allowances. Australia will become a net permit buyer before 2020. The price of EU allowances is projected to be below A\$20/t-CO₂-e before 2020, but will increase slightly to around A\$22/t-CO₂-e after the Australian and EU ETS' are linked. In the ETS_EU scenario, the carbon price then increases to A\$22/t-CO₂-e in 2020 and to A\$42/t-CO₂-e in 2030. In the ETS_EU + RET scenario, the price increases to A\$20/t-CO₂-e in 2020 and to A\$40 in 2030.

Irrespective of whether a stand-alone domestic ETS or a domestic ETS linked to the EU ETS is modelled, the combination of an ETS and the RET tends to lower the carbon price. This is because the RET imposes a technological mandate on liable entities and, thus artificially reduces the demand for emission permits.

Figure 3-1. Evolution of the domestic carbon price (A\$/t-CO₂-e)



Source: BAEGEM.

3.2. Policy implications for real GDP

Figure 3-2 shows the deviations in real GDP levels under the policy scenarios relative to the reference case:

- relative to the reference case which does not incorporate climate change policies, real GDP is reduced in all policy scenarios; however,
- the combination of an ETS *and* the RET reduces GDP (significantly) more than a stand-alone ETS, irrespective of whether a purely domestic ETS or an ETS with EU linkages is modelled.

The larger reduction in GDP as a result of the RET is a consequence of the design of the scheme. The RET is a prescriptive technological mandate that requires renewable generation facilities to be commissioned, irrespective of whether lower cost alternatives (such as gas technologies) are available to meet the emissions objective. This is in contrast to a market based carbon price mechanism, which supports economy-wide least-cost abatement. It is therefore more efficient and less economically damaging to employ a pure ETS policy strategy to achieve a given level of emissions abatement than it is to adopt a combined (ETS and RET) policy approach.

The negative GDP impacts modelled in this report are likely to be conservative. This is because a significant portion of the RET target will be met from high cost, small-scale domestic installations, such as rooftop solar PV and solar hot water installations, which are not explicitly modelled in this exercise. Furthermore, a high reliance on renewable generation, particularly on intermittent technologies such as wind, imposes significant additional costs on the electricity system, for instance in terms of additional stand-by capacity required.



Figure 3-2. Real Australian GDP, deviation from the reference case

Figure 3-3 shows average annual real GDP growth rates between 2011 and 2020, and between 2021 and 2030, respectively, for the reference case and the four policy scenarios. In all policy scenarios average real GDP growth is reduced relative to the reference case, but the existence of the RET depresses economic growth further. The reduction in average real GDP growth is less in the EU linkage scenarios (ETS_EU and ETS_EU + RET), given that electricity prices are projected to be lower in these scenarios (see Section 3.5.2).



Figure 3-3. Real Australian GDP, average annual growth rates

3.3. Policy implications for real wages

Figure 3-4 highlights changes in real wages relative to the reference case in the four policy scenarios. All the climate change policies modelled here depress real wages relative to the reference case, but there are some differences depending on whether the domestic ETS is linked to the EU ETS or not:

- The reduction in real wages is very similar in the ETS scenario and the ETS + RET scenario. Real wages are reduced by around 2.5 per cent in 2020, and by around 3.3 per cent in 2030. This effect arises because the RET requirement to install additional renewable electricity capacity by 2020 temporarily places upward pressure on wages. This upward pressure largely compensates for the downward pressure on wages arising from lower GDP growth and higher electricity prices.
- This wage effect does not occur in the two scenarios in which the domestic ETS is linked with the EU ETS (ETS_EU and ETS_EU + RET). In these scenarios, the decline in real wages is significantly less than in the non-linkage scenarios. The temporary upward pressure from installing additional renewable electricity capacity is not enough to compensate for the downward pressure arising from lower GDP growth and higher electricity prices.

0 ETS ETS + RET -0.5 ETS_EU + RET ETS_EU -1 Per cent -1.5 -2 -2.5 -3 -3.5 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2026 2028 2030

Figure 3-4. Real wages, deviation from the reference case

3.4. Policy implications for greenhouse gas emissions

Figure 3-5 shows total Australian greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, excluding emissions from LULUCF under the reference case and the policy scenarios. In the reference case scenario no GHG abatement measures are taken. Aggregate Australian GHG emissions increase from around 538 Mt CO_2 -e in 2010 to around 558 Mt CO_2 -e in 2020. Emissions level off at around 560 Mt CO_2 -e from 2023 onwards and then begin to decline to around 558 Mt CO_2 -e in 2030. This is a far lower level of emissions than assumed in Treasury modelling to date.

In the scenarios where the domestic ETS is not linked to the EU ETS, the carbon price pathway to 2030 is solely determined by the Government's emissions target. The ETS and the ETS + RET scenarios therefore generate the same levels of domestic emissions abatement; GHG emissions fall to 470 Mt CO_2 -e in 2020 and to 420 Mt CO_2 -e in 2030.

In the EU linkage scenarios, domestic carbon prices are determined by the prices of EU allowances, which reflect the EU emissions target and are projected to be relatively low over the forecasting horizon, and by the Government's domestic emissions target. Domestic carbon prices are projected to be lower than those in the scenarios without EU linkage because Australian firms can access cheaper permits from Europe (Figure 3-1). A lower domestic carbon price implies that the Government's emissions targets will be partly met by additional abatement in the EU:

- in the ETS_EU + RET scenario, Australian emissions fall to 481 Mt CO₂-e in 2020 (2.3 per cent above the 2020 target), and to 437 Mt CO₂-e in 2030; while
- in the ETS_EU scenario, Australian emissions fall to 501 Mt CO₂-e in 2020 (6.6 per cent above the 2020 target), and to 459 Mt CO₂-e in 2030.

Figure 3-5. Total Australian emissions (excluding LULUCF)



3.5. Policy implications for the electricity sector

3.5.1. Aggregate electricity generation

The effects of the different climate change policies on electricity generation are shown in Figure 3-6. Aggregate electricity generation, excluding small scale generation, falls significantly relative to the reference case in all policy scenarios, although this effect is least pronounced in the ETS_EU scenario. In the ETS policy scenario, aggregate electricity generation falls to around 244 TWh by 2020, a reduction of 11.1 per cent from electricity generation of 274 TWh in the reference case. In the ETS + RET policy scenario electricity generation falls to 242 TWh by 2020, an 11.7 per cent reduction. In the EU linkage scenarios, electricity generation in the ETS_EU + RET scenario is projected to be 246 TWh in 2020 (a 10.1 per cent reduction), and in the ETS_EU scenario electricity generation is 254 TWh (a 7.2 per cent reduction).

Irrespective of whether a stand-alone domestic ETS or a domestic ETS linked to the EU ETS is modelled, the overall effect on electricity generation is less under an ETS than it is under an ETS combined with the RET. This is because the abatement task is spread more evenly across the economy under an ETS and electricity prices are relatively lower. With a mandated renewables target, the electricity sector takes on a disproportionate abatement burden (given the marginal cost of abatement in the sector compared with marginal costs elsewhere in the economy) for a given abatement task.



Figure 3-6. Aggregate electricity generation in Australia (GWh)

3.5.2. Wholesale electricity

Figure 3-7 shows increases in average annual electricity wholesale prices relative to the reference case. By 2020, electricity prices will be 33.1 per cent higher in the ETS + RET scenarios, and 31.8 per cent higher in the ETS scenario. Wholesale electricity price increases are lower in the EU linkage scenarios; prices in 2020 will be 27.8 per cent higher in the ETS_EU + RET scenario, and 19.5 per cent higher in the ETS_EU scenario. The relatively smaller price increase in the ETS_EU scenario is a reflection of the lower carbon price in this scenario, which is in turn a function of lower prices for EU allowances.

Figure 3-7. Electricity price deviations relative to the reference case



3.5.3. Electricity generation by fuel source

Figure 3-8 shows electricity generation from renewable energy sources. Generation from renewables is higher under either of the RET scenarios (ETS + RET and ETS_EU + RET), given that this policy mandates the amount of renewable electricity generated in each year. Under either of the non-RET scenarios (ETS and ETS_EU), the amount of electricity generated from renewable energy sources is considerably lower. This result arises because, for a given abatement target, a sole reliance on renewable generation is not the least cost solution.



Figure 3-8. Electricity generation from renewable energy sources (excluding hydro)

Figure 3-9 shows projections of electricity generation from natural gas for the reference case and the policy scenarios. Electricity generation from natural gas is higher than in the reference case for all policy scenarios, and is highest in the ETS scenarios (ETS and ETS_EU). In these scenarios, the existence of a carbon price allows the emissions abatement objective to be achieved at least cost, by increasing the amount of generation from gas, which is less emissionintensive than coal. The renewable energy mandate of the RET, in contrast, forces more generation from (more costly) renewable energy sources.

90,000 80,000 70,000 GWh 60,000 50,000 40,000 30,000 2010 2012 2014 2026 2030 2016 2018 2020 2022 2024 2028 REF -ETS ETS + RET -ETS_EU -ETS_EU + RET _ Source: BAEGEM.

Figure 3-9. Electricity generation from natural gas

Figure 3-10 and Figure 3-11 show the projected generation mix in 2020 and 2030. In all policy scenarios, coal-fired generation is reduced while generation from gas and renewables increases; these effects become more pronounced in 2030.

The share of generation from gas is always higher in the stand-alone ETS scenarios (ETS and ETS_EU), than in the RET scenarios (ETS + RET and ETS_EU + RET). A stand-alone ETS provides a least-cost solution to emission abatement through a market-based mechanism resulting in greater reliance on gas. To achieve an efficient outcome, it is crucial that the scheme includes a broad range of sectors across the economy. The RET, on the other hand, requires a disproportionate amount of abatement to be obtained from the electricity generation sector and, moreover, from more expensive sources.

Figure 3-10. Electricity generation mix in 2020







Source: BAEGEM.

4. Policy conclusions

The key economic effects of the four climate change policies analysed in this report are shown in Table 4-1. The combination of an ETS with the RET is (significantly) less efficient than a 'pure' ETS policy, irrespective of whether the ETS is purely domestic in scope or whether it is linked with the EU (Table 4-1):

- For the same level of abatement, the combined ETS + RET policy requires that the share of generation from expensive renewables is more than doubled, at the expense of generation from lower cost natural gas and adjustments in other sectors. In 2020, Australian GDP under the ETS + RET policy option is \$3.5 billion lower in today's dollars, as compared to GDP under the ETS policy option;
- Linkage of the Australian ETS to the EU ETS somewhat reduces the negative impact on GDP growth that would arise under a purely domestic ETS. The operation of the RET in parallel to the ETS has a similarly depressing effect on economic growth.

	ETS (per cent)	ETS + RET (per cent)	ETS_EU (per cent)	ETS_EU + RET (per cent)
Real GDP (Australia)	-0.6%	-0.8%	-0.4%	-0.7%
Wages	-2.5%	-2.5%	-1.6%	-2.1%
Emissions	-15.6%	-15.6%	-10.0%	-13.6%
Electricity generation	-11.1%	-11.7%	-7.2%	-10.1%
Electricity wholesale prices	31.8%	33.1%	19.5%	27.8%
Generation from renewables	107%	164%	53%	164%
Generation from gas	19.9%	13.1%	15.2%	11.1%

Table 4-1. Comparison of economic effects under alternative climate change policies (2020, percentage differences from the reference case)

Source: BAEGEM.